
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Wednesday, 16 
June 2021 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

The Government legislation in response to COVID-19 to permit remote attendance by Elected
Members has now expired. Therefore, this meeting will be conducted in person and with socially
distanced Elected Members and officers in attendance. This meeting will be streamed live and can
be watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube channel:

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv

Please note that proceedings of the meeting will be broadcast live and recorded by the council for
the purposes of minute accuracy and for general reference. Where the meeting is broadcast live
any other third party may also record this meeting, unless exempt or confidential information is
being considered. The council is not liable for any third party recordings.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

a) 20210390 - 94 Gordon Road, Northfleet, Gravesend, Kent - 
Conversion of dwelling into 2 self-contained maisonettes (1 no. one 
bedroom and 1 no. two bedroom) incorporating the formation of a 
new basement lightwell at the front, an enlarged dormer window in 
the side roof slope and entrance door on the side elevation

(Pages 11 - 28)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


Members

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Samir Jassal
Bob Lane
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 19 May 2021 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Leslie Hills
Emma Morley
Frank Wardle

Note: Councillor  Lee Croxtyon was also in attendance.

Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Vicky Nutley Deputy Head of Legal Services (Place)
Richard Hart Team Leader (Development Management)
Amanda Grout Planning Officer
David Herrington Digital Services Manager (Technical Support)
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)
Ciara Ferguson Committee Services Trainee

1. Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Bob Lane, Cllr Gary Harding and Cllr Samir 
Jassal.

Cllr Leslie Hills, Cllr Frank Wardle  and Cllr Jordan Meade substituted for the above 
Councillor respectively.

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 7 April 2021 
were signed by the Chair.

3. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Jordan Meade made a voluntary announcement of an other interest as an elected 
Member of Kent County Council for Gravesend East which he noted was not yet listed on his 
Register of Interests.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 19.05.2021

2

The Deputy Head of Legal Services (Place) confirmed that Cllr Meade’s Declaration of 
Interest was acceptable.

4. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

4.1 20210397 - Relocation of 5no. car parking spaces and erection of 3no. 2 
bedroom self-contained flats and 3no. additional car parking spaces at 
55 Rochester Road, Gravesend, Kent 

The Committee considered application reference 20210397 in relation to the proposed 
construction of a two-storey detached building located to the rear of the block of flats at 
number 55 Rochester Road, which would provide 3 two bedroom self-contained flats and 
associated parking and the relocation of existing parking to serve the residents of the flats at 
number 55.

The Planning Officer introduced the report and advised that the site was to the rear of 
Rochester Road within the urban boundary of Gravesend as designated by the Local Plan. 
55 Rochester Road is a two-storey block of flats surrounded by residential properties varying 
in nature. There is a school opposite the site and a Grade 2 Listed church nearby. The 
Committee was advised that this application was a resubmission of a previous application 
which had been refused permission in February 2021. An appeal had been lodged by the 
applicant against the refused scheme who had not yet received a start date from the 
Planning Inspectorate. The Planning Officer described the differences between this and the 
previous application which included a reduction on bedrooms from 3 to 2, the increase in 
space between the proposal and 55 Rochester Road, the altered and the reduced access to 
Flat C. The access to the site was a vehicular alley which has no lighting or pedestrian 
walkway and was not in the ownership of the applicant. However, a certificate had been 
served on the owner of the alleyway. It was noted that no pre-application advice had been 
sought by the applicant on either of the schemes. The proposed scheme would result in a  
biodiversity net loss for the site. It was noted that whilst the three proposed dwellings were a 
modest contribution to Government Housing targets it was considered that the proposal 
would result in a significant harm to existing dwellings which would outweigh the benefits of 
three additional dwellings. Members were informed that, as of the day of the meeting, there 
had been no undertaking provided to secure the SAMMS contribution.

A summary of the correspondence received in relation to the consultation was set out in the 
report and it was noted that four replies had been received objecting to the proposal on the 
grounds of overdevelopment.

In conclusion, the officer recommended that the application be refused on the grounds as set 
out in the report.

The application was before the Committee as a result of the application being resubmitted 
with revisions following a refusal.

The Committee heard the views of the public speakers in support of the application who 
answered questions from Members.

The following points were made during discussion on this item:

Landscaping and Parking:

Page 6



Planning Committee 19.05.2021

3

 In relation to the 2015 approved application, it was confirmed that the condition in 
relation to the landscaping scheme had not been implemented which was supposed 
to have happened within 12 months of first occupation.

 A question was raised on the lack of amenity space on the site. The Committee was 
advised that there were a number of public amenity spaces close to the site that 
could be used such as the rugby club and the Promenade.

Proposal Design and Housing Consideration:

 As previously advised, the application was before the Committee due to being 
resubmitted with revisions, following a recent refusal in addition to the consideration 
of the balance between the impact of the proposal and the Government’s 5 year 
housing supply targets.

 The distance between the existing block and the proposed building was confirmed at 
2.58 metres and was the locations of the application’s habitable rooms, the lounge 
and bedrooms, which would be at the front and rear of the building.

 It was noted that if the Committee adopted the first two reasons for refusal, then the 
third was superfluous. The Team Leader (Development Management) advised, that 
with regard to the SAMMS agreement, the Planning Officer had emailed the 
applicant’s agent on 5 May and that the completed unilateral undertaking had not yet 
been received by the Council. 

 Following a question about the overbearing nature of the application on surrounding 
properties, Members were advised that number 53 had a pitched roof to reduce 
impact of the neighbouring property and windows and roof lights had been positioned 
to reduce overlooking. In addition, the amenity space of one of the flats had been 
reduced but was still had an area of 32m².

 Whilst it was noted that the proposed flats were of a high quality, some concern as 
expressed on the small size of some of the kitchens, living spaces and that one of 
the double bedrooms did not have any windows although it did have roof lights. It 
was confirmed that this was due to the configuration of the flats and that gross 
internal area space standards had been met.

 The Team Leader (Development Management) highlighted that the application was 
for 100% market housing and was not for affordable housing. He also noted that the 
Guidance Booklet mentioned by the applicant’s agent, had not been received by the 
case officer and was therefore not part of the application and could not be taken into 
account by the Committee when coming to a decision.

 Following a question from the Ward Councillor, that Committee was advised that the 
applicant had worked with the Council and more specifically, one particular housing 
officer, to house clients that other private landlords would not consider. All the 
tenants had been very happy to be housed in clean, well maintained housing despite 
the small size of some of the rooms, as they tended to have come from much smaller 
accommodation such as studio flats. Such tenants had gone through so much that 
they did not ask for amenity space and parking and the residents had become a 
small community. It was the applicant’s stated intention to let the properties rather 
than sell them on the open market.

 The Assistant Director (Planning) confirmed that the application was for market 
housing and not affordable housing in perpetuity. She also noted that the dwellings 
could be let to the Council’s housing services who use private landlords.

 The applicant confirmed that, although the application was for market housing, the 
proposed flats would be used to house Council tenants.

Page 7



Planning Committee 19.05.2021

4

 In relation to the character of the area, it was confirmed that there was a mix of 
properties including flats, houses and bungalows including other back land 
developments.

 Following a question from a member of the Committee, it was confirmed that the 
application site was not in an elevated position and was designed not to overlook 
neighbouring properties and was not overlooked.

 Following a comparison to a previous application considered by the Committee for a 
single assisted living dwelling, the Planning Officer advised that there had been no 
biodiversity net loss for this dwelling in Arnold Avenue. The assisted living dwelling 
had met all guidelines. This dwelling was at 25mm² was also much larger. The officer 
confirmed that the proximity to other dwellings should measure 11 metres from 
property to property and this measures 2.5 metres. In addition, the ground floor flat 
was the only dwelling with an outlook. It was noted that the residential guidelines 
were unadopted and the application met some of these and failed with others. The 
garden amenity minimum was confirmed at 10m².

 The Assistant Director (Planning) confirmed that very few personal circumstances 
were a material planning consideration such as disability but not homelessness.

Pre-Application Advice:

 Following a question from a Committee member, the speaker confirmed that he had 
not sought pre-application advice because his strategy was to submit the applicant 
for determination within a set timeframe and pre-application advice would have 
delayed this process by months.

 It was confirmed that the applicant had worked to overcome the reasons for refusal 
for the previous application.

 The Planning Officer drew Members’ attention to paragraphs 1.9 to 1.12 of the report 
which set out the procedural issues in relation to this application. Paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Framework sets out the process of prior engagement. This 
process takes 6 weeks at Gravesham Borough Council during which the case officer 
engages with the applicant and/or agent. In the case of this application, prior 
engagement did not happen. However, if the Committee felt that further consultation 
could bring about a favourable outcome then this could take place.

 Many members of the Committee expressed the opinion that the applicant should 
have taken the time to seek pre-application advice in an effort to resolve some of the 
issues before submitting an application.

Access:

 There were supporting documents in relation to the shared ownership of the access 
and a certificate and other information had been emailed to the Committee before the 
meeting. The Team Leader (Development Management) advised that this could not 
form part of the consideration of the application as it had not been formally submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority. 

 A question was raised on whether the access would have lighting as it was 
considered that it and the open plan amenity space might attract the potential for fly 
tipping. It was considered by the applicant that natural surveillance would happen as 
a result of the design of the scheme.

 Members were advised that the maintenance responsibilities of the access way were 
likely to be shared.

Page 8



Planning Committee 19.05.2021

5

 The Chair highlighted that Kent Highways had raised slight objections to the 
application but not enough for grounds to refuse. It was also noted that Kent 
Highways rarely objected to anything. 

 The Committee was advised that the access road led onto a busy road and was 
opposite a school.

Officer Recommendation:

 The Chair noted that the Ward Councillor had made a valid point in that the 
Government had a presumption in favour of development.  However, he considered 
that the officer’s report presented a balanced consideration.

 A member of the Committee recognised the need for housing but asked if it should 
come at the cost of approving development with non-habitual space or were 
detrimental to the environment.

 Another member noted that there were many examples of development in the urban 
area and some were examples of overdevelopment. It was considered that fitting too 
many dwellings into small back land developments was too much intensification. 
There were also issues of a lack of parking spaces and unlit access issues onto a 
busy road.

Before putting the motion for refusal to the vote, the Chair requested that the reasons for 
refusal be displayed.

Resolved that application 20210397 be REFUSED Planning Permission on the 
following grounds:

1. The proposals are considered to constitute an overdevelopment of the rear 
garden, which would result in a comparatively cramped form of back land 
development and would be incongruous considering the existing pattern of 
development and the character of the residential gardens, which comprise the 
area. It is therefore harmful to the character and appearance of the site and the 
wider locality and would contravene Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 which ensured new 
development will integrate well with the surrounding local area. At a national 
level the proposed development would also contravene paragraph 70 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) which states 'Local planning 
authorities should consider the case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate 
development of residential gardens, for example where development would 
cause harm to the local area'. 

2. The proposal would result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of the 
occupiers of the flats at No. 55 in terms of loss of outlook and loss of private and 
shared amenity space, contrary to Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and 
para. 127f of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

3. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures 
within Special Protection Areas and in the absence of this contribution or 
adequate information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, the development 
fails to comply with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 
(specifically paragraphs 175 and 176) of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019 and Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

Page 9



Planning Committee 19.05.2021

6

Note: (a) Mr Sean Payne (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(b) Mr Kam Sathi (Applicant)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(c) Borough Councillor Lee Croxton spoke with the leave of the Chair.

5. Appointment of Appeals Sub-Committee 

The Committee considered the wishes of the political groups in relation to the appointment of 
members to the Appeals Sub-Committee.

Resolved that an Appeals Sub-Committee be appointed as shown below:

Labour: Conservative:

Cllr Lyn Milner (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Cllr Gary Harding

6. Appointment of Hackney Carriage Sub-Committee 

The Committee considered the wishes of the political groups in relation to the appointment of 
members of the Hackney Carriage Sub-Committee.

Resolved that a Hackney Carriage Sub-Committee be appointed as show below:

Labour: Conservative:

Cllr John Burden (Chair) Cllr Jordan Meade 
Cllr Brian Sangha (Vice-Chair)

7. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Environment) under delegated 
powers had been published on the Council’s website. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.48 pm

Page 10



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20210390

Site Address: 94 Gordon Road Northfleet Gravesend Kent

Application 
Description:

Conversion of dwelling into 2 self-contained maisonettes (1 no. one 
bedroom and 1 no. two bedroom) incorporating the formation of a new 
basement lightwell at the front, an enlarged dormer window in the side 
roof slope and entrance door on the side elevation  

Applicant: Mrs Sharan Sathi

Agent: Mr Sean Payne, Sean Payne Arch Design

Ward: Northfleet North

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 30 June 2021

Publicity expiry date: 23 April 2021

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 16 June 2021

Reason for referral: Call In by Councillor Lauren Sullivan

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the application is DELEGATED to the Service 
Manager (Development Management) for the issue of planning 
PERMISSION subject planning conditions as set out in the report and 
completion of the Unilateral Undertaking for SAMMS. 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The proposal is for the conversion of No. 94 Gordon Road, a two storey end terrace dwelling 
into 2no. self-contained maisonettes, which would provide 1no. one bedroom unit and 1no. 2 
bedroom unit, together with the formation of a new basement lightwell at the front, enlargement 
of the existing side dormer and creation of new entrance door on the side elevation.

As outlined in paragraph 6.25, the principle of converting the property is considered acceptable.  
Paragraph 6.30 highlights that the proposed units would exceed the National Housing 
Standards both in terms of gross internal floor area and room sizes.  It is considered that there 
would be no detrimental impact on neighbour amenity as laid out in paragraph 6.39, and would 
be no highways issues as outlined in paragraph 6.52.  

During the course of the application and in order to be positive and proactive negotiations took 
place with the agent to improve the scheme and address concerns from third paryt and 
statutory consultee comments.  These changes were an increase in the light well serving the 
basement bedroom and removal of the parking from the rear of the site.

All representations received from both 3rd parties and consultees and have been taken into 
account when considering this proposal and the development is considered to comply with local 
and national planning policy.
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5a



It is recommended that the application is DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Development 
Management) for the issue of planning PERMISSION subject planning conditions as set out in 
the report and completion of the Unilateral Undertaking for SAMMS. 
____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1. The application site is 94 Gordon Road located within the urban boundary of Northfleet, 
Gravesend as designated by the Local Plan.  94 Gordon Road is a two storey end 
terrace single residential dwelling with an existing side dormer providing habitable living 
accommodation over three floors, and an existing unused basement area.
 

1.2. The planning history indicates that No. 94 Gordon Road was once the Gordon Arms 
Public House.  After the pub closed, the property was use as a shop and off license 
with residential above, before being fully converted to a single residential dwelling.

1.3. The property benefits from a corner plot with a grassed access track to the side that 
leads to a recreation ground that is located to the rear of the properties.

1.4. The surrounding area is characterised as residential with similar design terrace 
properties.  

1.5. The majority of parking is on street only which is restricted to 2 hours no return 
between the hours of 08:00 and 18:30, or permit only.

1.6. The following photographs were taken from the public realm on 26th May 2021, 
together with Google Earth images, show the site and the surrounding area:

  

  

Page 12



     

Procedural Issues

1.7. The application has been determined in accordance with the above submitted 
documents/plans and Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) (2019) sets out adopting a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals. In this case prior to this application being submitted the agent did not 
engage with the Local Planning Authority with a formal pre-application enquiry. 

1.8. The initial application was submitted with the provision of 2 parking spaces to the rear 
of the site, however no details of the parking were provided.

1.9. Comments provided in response to consultation indicated that the proposed parking 
and access was not deemed viable.

1.10.In response to these comments and in order to address the objections, the parking 
provision and associated access were removed from the proposal.

1.11.Re-consultation was undertaken following a revised application form and description 
being submitted

1.12.The current application is therefore considered as a resubmission based on the 
previous application (Ref. 20141039) which was approved on 31st December 2014 but 
was not implemented and therefore expired on 31st December 2017.

2. Planning History

Application Ref     Description          Status          Date
20160319 Application for a Lawful 

Development Certificate in respect 
of the proposed erection of a single 
storey rear extension.

Certificate Granted 24.05.2016

20141039 Conversion of dwelling into 2 self-
contained, two bedroom 
maisonettes incorporating the 
formation of a new basement 
lightwell at the front, an enlarged 
dormer window in the side roof 
slope and entrance door on the 
side elevation.

Permission 31.12.2014

20140490 Conversion of existing house into Refused 24.07.2014

Page 13



one self-contained two bedroom 
flat, one self-contained one 
bedroom flat and one self-
contained studio flat, incorporating 
alterations to the front elevation at 
basement and ground floor levels, 
creation of an entrance door on the 
side elevation, and a dormer 
extension to the side roof slope.

19960209 Change of use from off-licence with 
residential incorporating alterations 
to front and side elevations and 
erection of single storey front 
extension to form bay.

Permitted 20.05.1996

3. Proposal

3.1. This current application is for the conversion of the existing single residential dwelling 
into 2no. self-contained maisionettes incorporating the formation of a new basement 
lightwell at the front, an enlarged dormer window in the side roof slope and entrance 
door on the side elevation.  

3.2. The existing property is a 4no. bedroom dwelling spaced over three floors with two of 
the bedrooms being within the roofspace.

3.3. Flat 1 would be accessed from the existing front door and would comprise of living 
room, shower room, study and kitchen on the ground floor with a double bedroom in 
the basement.

3.4. Flat 2 would be accessed from a new side entrance with hall and stairs up to the first 
floor and would comprise of living room, bathroom, kitchen and single bedroom on the 
first floor and a double bedroom, bathroom and study on the second floor.

3.5. The lightwell to serve the bedroom of Flat 1 would measure 1.8m wide, 950mm deep 
and 2.02m in height to the pavement level with safety railing.

3.6. The existing side dormer would be enlarged and altered from a gable design to a box 
style and would measure 2.18m wide, 1.61m in height and would project 1.68m from 
the existing roof slope.

3.7. The property benefits from an existing rear garden which can be accessed from the 
kitchen of Flat 1 and the existing external side gate, however details relating to its use 
and whether it is to be a communal garden or exclusively for the use of the occupants 
of Flat 1, have not been provided.

3.8. Whilst there are no details within the supporting document regarding the intended use 
of the proposed units, section 16 of the planning application form states that the 
proposed units would be 100% market housing.

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1. Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development

Page 14



• CS11 – Transport
• CS12 – Green Infrastructure
• CS14 – Housing Type and Size
• CS15 – Housing Density
• CS18 – Climate Change
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles

4.2. Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2019) sets out those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five 
years, and should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal 
requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) England Regulations 2012.

4.3. The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) is in need of a partial review in terms of 
Policy CS02 due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy 
was adopted and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. 
Whilst saved policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), the Council will also seek to replace these 
saved policies via the emerging Local Plan.

4.4. Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994)
• H5 – Increasing the Housing Stock by Conversion 
• T1 – Impact of development on the highway network
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

4.5. National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
•           Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
•           Section 4 – Decision-making
•           Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
•           Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
•           Section 11 – Making effective use of land
•           Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places

4.6. Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (2020)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards (October 

2015)

5. Consultations and Publicity Responses

Consultations

5.1. Crime Prevention Design Advisor

5.2. Having reviewed the on line documentation, this application falls below our normal 
response criteria. However, should the application receive planning consent, we 
recommend that applicant consider the Secured By Design (SBD) initiative in regard to 
security specifications, e.g. doorset and window specifications being certified to 
PAS24:2016 as an added layer of security. This importantly should include all ground 
floor, basement and any vulnerable doorsets and windows.

5.3. GBC Highway Development Management Officer

Page 15



5.4. Looking at the history of this site and in particular the highway comments, no car 
parking is required as the existing and proposed dwellings would have similar parking 
demands. A four bedroom house would be expected to have two parking spaces, whilst 
the flats would have one space each so there is no difference. However ideally there 
should be secure and weather proof bicycle parking for one bicycle per flat to conform 
to SPG4

  
Again, the existing property would have a higher demand than the proposed 
development, but given the aim to improve sustainability I do not consider the request 
unreasonable and could perhaps be added as an informative

5.5. Neighbouring Properties

5.6. Five letters of representation have been received, objecting to the application with the 
following summarised comments:

 Congestion of the area
 Out of Character
 Parking
 Noise Increase
 Alley will become parking space
 Pedestrians won’t be able to use alleyway
 Highway safety of users of alleyway
 Alleyway too narrow for turning
 Too many rental properties on Gordon Road

Whilst not a material planning consideration, a number of the representations received 
stated that the management of the property in terms of perspective tenants would likely 
result in anti-social behaviour, noise and rubbish being left around and bins not being put 
out on the correct days.

6. Planning Analysis and Development Manager Comments

6.1. Background

6.2. Planning permission was given in December 2014 (Ref. 20141039) for the conversion 
of dwelling into 2 self-contained, two bedroom maisonettes incorporating the formation 
of a new basement lightwell at the front, an enlarged dormer window in the side roof 
slope and entrance door on the side elevation. This application was not implemented 
and has now expired, however it was assessed against the current Local Plan 
(Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014) and the 2012 NPPF (National Planning 
Policy Framework).

Page 16



Approved Scheme Proposed Elevations (20141039)

Current Application Proposed Elevations

   
6.3. As the above plans show, the current application is very similar to the previously 

approved application (Ref. 20141039).

6.4. The main difference from the previous scheme and the current is that the second 
bedroom of Flat 1 has been removed and replaced with a study, therefore resulting in a 
one bedroom unit instead of two.  Flat 2 remains as a two bedroom unit.  The proposed 
lightwell has been increased in depth and additional storage has also been provided in 
both flats.

6.5. In terms of Local and National Planning Policy and Guidelines, the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy was adopted in September 2014 and therefore the previous 
planning permission was assessed against the current Local Plan.

6.6. This current application will need to be assessed against the current National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019) and the Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described 
Space Standards (October 2015).

6.7. Housing Need

6.8. Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing 
over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there is a need for at least 
6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence now available shows that the Council 
is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply (a 3.27 year supply has most 
recently been calculated within the statement published here), and as the delivery of 
housing was substantially below (less than 75%) that required by the Housing Delivery 
Test, the housing delivery element of Core Strategy Policy CS02 must be regarded to 
be out of date, as required by the Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF.  

Page 17

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/189288/5-Year-Housing-Land-Supply-Statement-2020-2025.pdf


6.9. This requires that in regard to housing development, planning permission should be 
granted unless: 
“the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”

6.10. In the Gravesham context, the policies referred to in paragraph 11(d)(i) above are 
those set out in the NPPF (2019) at footnote 6 (rather than those in development 
plans) relating to any of the following:

 Habitats sites (and those sites listed in NPPF paragraph 176)
 Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 
 Green Belt, 
 Local Green Space, 
 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
 Irreplaceable habitats; 
 Designated heritage assets (& other heritage assets of archaeological 

interest, see NPPF footnote 63); and 
 Areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.

6.11. In determining applications for planning permission involving housing, the Council 
will therefore apply a weighted balance in favour of granting planning permission in 
accordance with relevant case law and guidance, having regard to the acceptability 
or otherwise of the proposals when evaluated against development plan policy, the 
need to make efficient use of land (paragraph 123(c)) in context, the relative 
contribution the proposal makes towards the alleviation of any shortfall in housing 
delivery at that time and any other considerations material to the proposed 
development.

6.12. As part of this balancing exercise it should be noted that paragraphs127 and 130 of 
the NPPF (2019) requires development to add to the overall quality of the area, be 
visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and create acceptable amenity for 
future occupiers.  

6.13. Notwithstanding the Council’s shortages in housing delivery and the consequent 
weight to be given in favour of the proposed development it is necessary to assess 
the proposals against the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and established local planning policy taken as a whole.

6.14. Principle

6.15. The application site is located within the urban area of Gravesend where the 
character of the street scene is residential in nature.  The majority of the 
surrounding properties are terrace and are similar in size and layout to the 
application property.  Due to the location within an urban area, the principle of 
residential development is acceptable providing it accords with the local and 
national policies below.

6.16. Character and Appearance

Page 18



6.17. Policy CS19 (LPCS) sets out the design principles which will be taken into account 
when considering proposed redevelopment proposals.  The policy requires new 
development to be visually attractive, fit for purpose and locally distinctive.  In 
particular, the design of new development should be derived from a robust analysis 
of local context and character, make a positive contribution to the street scene and 
the character of the area and integrate well into the surrounding area.  At a national 
level the revised NPPF (2019) in section 12 provides guidance on achieving well 
designed places.

6.18. The proposal is for a conversion of the existing dwelling.  There are only minor 
elevational alterations with the creation of a lightwell to the front, new entrance door 
to the side and enlargement of the existing side dormer.  

6.19. The proposed lightwell would sit within the curtilage of the property.  Safety railings 
are proposed, however further details have not been provided.

6.20. The additional side entrance door for Flat 2 would be accessed from the existing 
grassed alley and it is unlikely that this would have an impact on the alleyway or its 
users.

6.21. The alterations to the side dormer would not have a detrimental impact on the 
existing property in terms of design, size and projection from the roofslope.  The 
proposed alterations are considered acceptable.  

6.22. Subject to a condition of details of the safety railings to the front lightwell to be 
submitted, the proposed elevational changes and materials would be acceptable 
and would accord with local and national planning policy.

6.23. Saved Policy H5) (LPFR) with regard to proposals for conversion of existing 
properties to provide flats states that the Borough Council will have regard for the 
following criteria;
(i) The building shall be in an appropriate area for conversion to flats maisonettes, 
bedsitters and multiple occupancy. Unless there are special or overriding 
circumstances, conversions will not normally be permitted in an area comprised for 
the most part of single family dwellings.  Conversely conversions will not normally 
be permitted in areas which are environmentally unsuitable for young families and 
which already demonstrate a predominance of multiple occupation. 
(ii) The building shall be of such a size and arrangement as to be generally 
unsuitable for single family occupation. 
(iii) The proposal shall have regard to the Borough Council’s Residential Layout 
Guidelines, as set out in supplementary planning guidance. 
(iv) The adopted Vehicle Parking Standards must be achieved wherever feasible. 

6.24. The preamble to this policy in paragraph 3.19 states that it will be assumed that 
buildings of not more than 2 storeys and not more than 6 habitable rooms would be 
suitable for continued family occupation.  Instead, the proper adaptation of larger 
houses will be targeted at those areas closest to the town centre which are 
unattractive to families.

6.25. Having regard to the above, it is concluded that the principle of converting the 
existing single residential home into 2no. self-contained units is acceptable. 

6.26. Overall, and taking into consideration the above, the proposals are considered to be 
acceptable in principle.

Page 19



6.27. In terms of design, the proposed development accords with Policy CS19 (LPCS) 
and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019). 

6.28. Residential Amenity

6.29. The NPPF (2019) states that planning decisions should aim to secure a high 
standard of amenity for all existing and future users (paragraph 127f). The impact 
on amenity is also considered with regard to the criteria within Policy CS19 (LPCS) 
states that new development should be located, designed and constructed to 
safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants, 
and those of neighbouring properties and land.

6.30. Amenity of Future Occupiers

Actual 
floor area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedrooms 
11.5sqm

Single 
Bedrooms 
7.5sqm

Flat 1 
(1b, 2p)

66.1sqm 58sqm 19.11sqm N/A

Flat 2 
(2b, 3p)

77.44sqm 70sqm 14.39sqm 9.2sqm

6.31. As can be seen from the table above the minimum gross internal floor area 
recommended by the National Housing Standards has been met by both 
proposed flats.

6.32. The existing garden area to the rear would not be altered by the proposal and 
would provide 39.18m2 of shared amenity space for the occupiers, which would 
accord with the Residential Layout Guidelines (2020).  It is also noted that a 
recreation ground is directly to the rear.

6.33. Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed lightwell only offers minimal outlook 
and natural light to the bedroom of Flat 1, this element is similar to the previous 
consent and has been increased in depth to provide as much light as possible.

6.34. In terms of occupier amenity, the proposal would accord with the objectives of 
Policy CS19 (LPCS) and para. 127f of the NPPF (2019).

6.35. Neighbouring Amenity

6.36. Neighbour objections have been received which mostly relate to the initial 
proposed parking to the rear.  This will be addressed within the Parking and 
Highways section.   

6.37. Further comments relate to the change of use, intensification and noise.  In 
terms of occupancy and a potential intensification of use and noise increase, the 
existing dwelling is a 4-bedroom property and as a result of the proposal would 
see a decrease in bedrooms from 4 to 3.  It is not considered that the amount of 
occupants would significantly alter due to the decrease in bedrooms.

6.38. No comments were received relating to loss of light, privacy or overlooking.  The 
proposal would not result in any additional windows at first floor level that would 
have a detrimental impact on the amenities of the surrounding properties. 

Page 20



6.39. Overall, and taking into account the existing built form of both the application site 
and the surrounding buildings, it is considered that there will be no loss of 
outlook, daylight or sunlight to any neighbouring property and therefore complies 
with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019) in this regard. 

6.40. Therefore in terms of neighbour amenity, the proposal conflicts with the 
objectives of Policy CS19 (LPCS) and para. 127f of the NPPF (2019).

6.41. Ecology and Biodiversity

6.42. The Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar site and Special Protection Area 
(SPA) are internationally important for nature conservation as the area is a 
wetland and supports important numbers of wintering waterbirds and migrating 
birds.  There has been a decline in the number of birds using these sites in 
recent years. Studies show that this could be due to people using the estuary 
and marshes for recreation purposes. The North Kent Bird Disturbance Report 
concludes that all new housing development within 6km of the North Kent 
Ramsar Sites or Special Protection Areas (including the Thames Estuary and 
Marshes) and larger housing development beyond 6km from the sites could 
have an adverse impact on them. This is because new housing development is 
likely to lead to further increases in recreational use of the sites which means 
that further declines in the bird population cannot be ruled out.  Possible 
mitigation measures are set out in the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries 
Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy.  Having considered a 
number of options, the Council have decided to impose a tariff on new housing 
development. Developers will need to pay £253.83 for every new dwelling 
provided within 6km of the Ramsar site and SPA and for larger housing 
developments beyond 6km from them. The money raised will be used to pay for 
schemes to avoid the adverse impacts of new housing development on the birds. 

6.43. Where there are no other contributions required for a development applicants 
generally have chosen to submit the payment of £253.83 per dwelling by filling in 
the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) 
Agreement. By filling in this form there are no legal fees to be paid by the 
applicant and refund mechanisms are in place in the event of a refusal. In this 
instance the agent confirmed on 24th May 2021 they wish to enter into a 
Unilateral Undertaking. On 24th May 2021 the applicant was e-mailed a copy of 
the Unilateral Undertaking and was requested to arrange for the Unilateral 
Undertaking to be filled in as far as possible and returned it to Local Planning 
Authority.

6.44. At the time of publishing this report negotiations are still ongoing in terms of a 
Unilateral Undertaking for SAMMS and therefore it is recommended that the 
application is delegated to the Service Manager (Development Management) for 
the issue of planning permission subjection the completion of the Unilateral 
Undertaking.

6.45. Therefore, subject to the completion of the Unilateral Undertaking, the 
development would comply with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and 
Section 14 (specifically paragraphs 175 and 176) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019 and Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
2014.

6.46. Parking and Highways

Page 21



6.47. The application property is located in an area that is predominantly on-street 
parking that is restricted for 2 hours between the hours of 08:00 and 18:30 or 
permit holders only.

6.48. The following photographs were taken of the site and surrounding road at 
approximately 10:00am on a week day.

Photo taken from Mill Road looking north west towards the site and Gordon 
Road

  

Photo taken from directly outside 94 Gordon Road looking south

6.49. The existing property is a 4-bedroom dwelling and the proposal would see a 
decrease in 1no. bedroom.  

6.50. The initial submission, included parking to the rear of the property, however third 
party and highways comments were received objecting to this arrangement, due 
to the alleyway to the side being outside of the applicant’s ownership and too 
narrow for vehicle manoeuvring, together with only being used to access the 
recreation ground to the rear and highway safety impact.

6.51. As a result, the parking provision was removed from the proposal.  A 14-day re-
consultation was undertaken and two objections on the impact on parking were 
received.

Page 22



6.52. The GBC Highway Development Management Officer has commented that, no 
car parking is required as the existing and proposed dwellings would have 
similar parking demands. A four bedroom house would be expected to have two 
parking spaces, whilst the flats would have one space each so there is no 
difference. However ideally there should be secure and weather proof bicycle 
parking for one bicycle per flat to conform to SPG4.

6.53. The proposed lightwell would be located adjacent to an adopted highway and 
therefore may require consent from Kent County Council (KCC) Highways as the 
To address this, a KCC standard informative has been included.

6.54. Therefore, subject to imposition of a condition for the provision of secure cycle 
storage, the development would accord with Policy CS11 (LPCS). 

6.55. Waste Collection

6.56. No details relating to bin storage or waste collection have been provided, 
however the surrounding properties store their bins to the front with access being 
available from this area to the front of the building, enabling kerbside collection.  
Subject to a condition requesting storage details, this is considered acceptable 
and in accordance with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

7. Conclusion

7.1. It is acknowledged that the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year 
housing supply and as the delivery of housing is substantially below (less than 
75%) that required by the Housing Delivery Test, the housing delivery element of 
Policy CS02 (LPCS) must be regarded to be out of date, as required by the 
Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF (2019). 

7.2. The proposed development for a net increase of 1no. dwelling unit (in this case 1 
maisonette) would offer a minimal contribution towards meeting this local need 
and delivery and, accordingly, adds some weight in support of the application. 

7.3. In this case, it is considered that the proposal would accord to local and national 
planning policy and is therefore recommended for approval. 

______________________________________________________________________________
Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be APPROVED Planning Permission, subject to the 
following conditions:

CONDITIONS

1. STANDARD TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. APPROVED PLANS
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with 
the following schedule of approved plans:

Page 23



Planning Application Form;
Covering Letter;
Drawing No. 038-P-001 - Existing Site Location and Block Plan;
Drawing No. 038-P-001 - Existing Block Plan;
Drawing No. 038-P-010 - Existing Floor Plans;
Drawing No. 038-P-020 - Existing Elevations;
Drawing No. 038-P-100 Rev A - Proposed Block Plan;
Drawing No. 038-P-110 Rev B - Proposed Floor Plans; and
Drawing No. 038-P-120 Rev A - Proposed Elevations.

Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning in accordance with 
Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

3. MATERIALS
Notwithstanding the details included on the application form and approved plans the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development 
hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building. The external brickwork 
shall be constructed to match the bond and pointing of the existing brickwork

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and the new 
development in accordance with Local Plan: Core Strategy Policy CS19.

4. CYCLE STORAGE
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding 
details on the approved plans details of secure, covered and accessible cycle storage 
facilities (comprising a minimum of 1 space) to serve the development shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
cycle storage facilities shall be provided prior to first occupation of the development and 
shall be retained for such purposes at all times thereafter.

Reason: In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Local Plan: Core 
Strategy Policy CS19.

5. REFUSE DETAILS
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding 
details on the approved plans details of the refuse arrangements shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted details shall 
ensure adequate provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste 
and security arrangements for the refuse stores. The approved refuse arrangements 
shall be provided prior to first occupation of the dwelling and thereafter be retained for 
such purposes at all times.

Reason: In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area in the 
interest of amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: 
Core Strategy (September 2014).

6. HARD LANDSCAPING
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping 

Page 24



works shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
completion of the development or the first occupation of the residential unit whichever is 
sooner. The scheme shall include: 

 proposed boundary treatments;
 hard surface finishes to the  pedestrian accesses; and
 Details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other 

supporting structures.

Reason: To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and to ensure a 
satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in accordance with Policy 
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

7. SOFT LANDSCAPING
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans a scheme detailing the proposed soft 
landscaping shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include the type and species of planting to be carried out, to 
include their quantity and size as well as arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the 
approved soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full during the first available 
planting season following.  Any trees or plants that die, are damaged, removed or 
become diseased within five years from the date that the development is first brought 
into use shall be replaced with a species of a similar size and species during the next 
available planting season.

Reason: To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests of the 
visual amenity of the development, in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

INFORMATIVES

1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment 
and determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has 
worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance 
with the Development Plan for the area.

This has involved discussions and negotiations during the processing of the planning application 
in a collaborative manner in order to address the various consultations and neighbour concerns.

 2 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building 
Regulations or under any other enactment or provision.  Nor does it override any private rights 
which any person may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the provisions 
of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.

 3 NAMING & NUMBERING 
  

Page 25



As a result of the changes to this property, it appears that a change has to be made to the national 
property gazetteer.  It is a legal requirement that a property or premises is registered.
 
The Naming and Numbering Certificate, when issued, will reduce location or delivery problems via 
Royal Mail or other carriers, and importantly for the Police, Ambulance, and Fire & Rescue 
services.  Registration is also necessary to register to vote, for utility connections, and will avoid 
duplicate addresses.
 
The Naming and Numbering service is provided by the Borough Council.  The on-line form is 
available at the Planning/House Numbering page of the council's web-site 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/street-naming.  Please submit the application and the requisite fee 
in accordance with the guidance on the form.

 4 DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED PLANS

It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as a 'material' 
change requiring a further application/permission.  In the event that any change is proposed, 
applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority [as proceeding without the 
necessary permissions could nullify this permission].

5. KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby approved is 
commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are obtained and 
that the limits of the highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement 
action being taken by the Highway Authority.  The development hereby permitted requires works 
to be undertaken in the public highway adjacent to the site. Prior to starting work you must first 
contact KCC Highways and Transportation on 030000 41 81 81 to ascertain what work is required 
and the procedure to be followed to progress this to completion.

Page 26



Reference 20210390
Address 94 Gordon Road, Northfleet, Gravesend Kent.

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20210390 - 94 Gordon Road, Northfleet, Gravesend, Kent - Conversion of dwelling into 2 self-contained maisonettes (1 no. one bedroom and 1 no. two bedroom) incorporating the formation of a new basement lightwell at the front, an enlarged dormer window in the side roof slope and entrance door on the side elevation
	Site Plan


